**RECEIVED**

**Feb 07 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

CERTIORARI TO HORRY COUNTY  
WILLIAM H. SEALS, Jr, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

---

RICHARD B. NILES, Jr.

PETITIONER ,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-000396

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

JAMES K FALK

Falk Law Firm  
PO Box 1058  
Charleston, SC 29402  
jfalklaw @gmail.com  
(843) 606-6007  
SC BAR 80125

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

## **ISSUES PRESENTED**

I.

Did the PCR court err in failing to find trial counsel ineffective for not objecting when the State bolstered the testimony of a co-defendant of Petitioner testified in exchange to a plea to a lesser charge?

II.

Did the PCR court err in failing to find trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the trial court's response to an inquiry from the jury about whether Petitioner could be convicted of armed robbery if doubt existed regarding his actual knowledge of the robbery prior to its occurrence?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was indicted at the August 2007 term of the Horry County Grand Jury for murder (2007-GS-26-03363). (R. p. 1020). Petitioner was further indicted at the October 2008 term for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (2008-GS-26-41 16), and armed robbery (2008-GS-26-41 17). (R. pp. 1016- 1019). On March 9, 2009, Petitioner and his co-defendant Mokeia Hammond proceeded to trial before the Honorable Benjamin II. Culbertson and a jury. Verdell Bar, Esquire appeared on behalf of Petitioner and Ron Hazzard, Esquire appeared on behalf of codefendant Hammond. The State of South Carolina was represented by Donna Elder, Esquire and Bradley C Richardson, Esquire each of the Fifteenth Circuit Solicitor's Office. (R. p. 1). The jury found Petitioner guilty as indicted on March 13, 2009. (R. p. 741). Judge Culbertson sentenced Petitioner to imprisonment for concurrent terms of 30 years for murder; 30 years for armed robbery; and, 5 years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. (R. pp. 1022- 1024).

### *Direct Appeal*

Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal and a direct appeal was perfected by Robert M. Dudek, Esquire, who raised the following issue:

Whether the court erred by refusing to charge voluntary manslaughter based on evidence appellant was shot at and returned fire where the court incorrectly reasoned that Appellant was either acting in self-defense or shot the decedent during the commission of an armed robbery since voluntary manslaughter and self-defense are not mutually exclusive?

The parties proceeded to oral arguments on February 14, 2012. Mr. Dudek and Reid T. Sherard, Esquire, represented Petitioner. Brendan J. McDonald, of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office, appeared for the State. By opinion decided September 12,

2012, and substituted November 14, 2012, the South Carolina Court of Appeals reversed Petitioner's convictions, finding the circuit court erred in refusing to charge the jury on voluntary manslaughter. State v. Niles, 400 S.C. 527, 735 S.E.2d 240 (Ct. App. 2012). The State petitioned the Supreme Court of South Carolina for a writ of certiorari, which was granted by order dated February 6, 2014. The parties proceeded to oral arguments in the Supreme Court on June 25, 2014, with the same attorneys appearing. By opinion decided March 25, 2015, and substituted June 10, 2015, the Supreme Court reversed the Court of Appeals, finding the evidence did not warrant a voluntary manslaughter charge. State v. Niles, 412 S.C. 515, 772 S.E.2d 877 (2015). The remittitur was issued on June 10, 2015.

### ***Post-Conviction Relief hearing***

Petitioner filed a timely notice for post-conviction relief (PCR) in the Horry County Court of Common Pleas. Petitioner alleged ineffective assistance of both trial counsel and appellate counsel. Specifically Petitioner alleged that trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel by: failing to object to the solicitor's improper closing (R. pp. 948- 950); failing to object to the State's improper bolstering of its witnesses (R. pp. 951- 952); failing to object the prosecution introducing void indictments to the trial court (R. pp. 958 – 959); failing to object to the trial court's inadequate response to the jury's question (R. pp. 956- 957). Petitioner alleged that appellate counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing to raise on appeal whether the trial court erred in charging the jury that it could infer malice from the use of a deadly weapon (R. pp. 953- 956); and, failing to raise on appeal whether the trial court erred in not properly answering the jury's question (R. pp. 956 – 957) .

An evidentiary hearing on Petitioner's PCR application was held before the Honorable

William H. Seals, Jr on November 27, 2017 in the Horry County Courthouse. James Falk, Esquire appeared on behalf of Petitioner and Johnny Ellis James, Jr, Esquire of the South Carolina Attorney General's office appeared on behalf of the State. Robert Dudek of the South Carolina Commission for Indigent Defense testified at the hearing via telephone. (R. p. 976 line 9). Petitioner's trial counsel, Verdell Barr, was deceased and the State did not call a witness to testify in his stead. (R. p. 973 line 22 -974 line 8). The parties agreed that the State would not try and assert that any of trial counsel's decisions were supported by a viable trial strategy. (R. p. 974 lines 9- 12).

At the evidentiary hearing PCR counsel raised the following issues: 1.) Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the State's use of the golden rule argument in its closing. (R. p. 971 line 23 - 972 line 3); 2.) Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the State's bolstering of its own witnesses. (R. p. 972 lines 4-9); 3.) Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the Court's inferred malice instruction. (R. p. 992 lines 5-8); and, 4.). Trial counsel failed to properly handle some of the Court's responses to the jury's questions (R. p. 973 lines 11-14). Appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to raise on appeal whether the trial court erred in charging the inferred malice instruction. (R. p. 972 line 22 -973 line 3).

***Order denying relief***

On February 5, 2018, Judge Seals signed an Order of Dismissal therein denying Petitioner's claims of ineffective assistance of trial counsel and ineffective assistance of appellate counsel in the case.

Petitioner appealed, This Petition follows.

## ARGUMENT

- I. The PCR court err in failing to find trial counsel ineffective for not objecting when the State bolstered the testimony of a co-defendant of Petitioner testified in exchange to a plea to a lesser charge.

### *Right to effective assistance of counsel*

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees criminal defendants the right to the effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend. VI. To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, Petitioner must establish that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and that counsel's deficient performance prejudiced his defense. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 480 S.E.2d 733 (1997). "The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." Strickland, 466 U. S. at 686. To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, "the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient" and "that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense." Id. "When a convicted defendant complains of the ineffectiveness of counsel's assistance, the defendant must show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." Id. at 687-688. "[T]he performance inquiry must be whether counsel's assistance was reasonable considering all the circumstances." Id. at 688. Concerning prejudice, "a defendant need not show that counsel's deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case." Rather, "[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id. at 694.

### ***Improper Witness Bolstering***

PCR counsel argued that during the examination of Ervin Moore the State improperly bolstered the Mr. Moore's credibility. Initially Ervin Moore was a co-defendant of Mokeia Hammond and Petitioner. (R. p. 391 lines 23- 24). On the Monday of the week of Petitioner's trial, Moore plead guilty to "manslaughter and robbery and gun possession." (R. p. 391 lines 17 – 22). In exchange for the State's offer to allow Moore to plead to a lesser offense, Moore agreed to testify against petitioner. (R. p. 392 lines 11- 15). During its direct examination the State asked Moore: Part of the agreement did that include you being here today to testify to the truth? (R. p. 392 lines 19 -20). Then during the State's redirect examination the following colloquy took place.

Q: ---you signed a written agreement with us about your deal here today; right?

A: Yes, ma'am.

Q: Part of that written agreement it deals with what happens if you get on the stand and lie; doesn't it?

A: Yes, ma'am.

Q: And if you get up on the stand and you lie what happens to that agreement?

A: It ain't no good.

Q: It goes out the window? A: Yes ma'am.

Q: And what are you facing? A: Thirty

Q: Facing murder, aren't you?

A. Yes Ma'am. (R. p. 465 line 20 - 466 line. 9).

A similar colloquy took place in the capital murder case State v Kelly, 343 S.C. 350, 540 S.E.2d 851 (2001), reversed and remanded on other grounds, Kelly v. South Carolina, 534 U.S. 246, 122 S.Ct. 726 (2002). At Kelly's trial the assistant solicitor asked a jailhouse informant: "what

did I tell you that I absolutely required regarding your testimony to this jury today? ...Did I tell you to tell the truth to the jury? Id 343 S.C. at 368. Defense counsel objected stating that the assistant solicitor was bolstering the witness's testimony and was making himself a witness. Id. The court overruled the objection and Kelly raised this issue on appeal. In addressing this issue the Court in Kelly looked to the Third Circuit's opinion in United State v Walker, 155 F.3d 180 (3d Cir 1998). The Third Circuit in Walker stated:

Vouching constitutes an assurance by the prosecuting attorney of the credibility of a Government witness through personal knowledge or by other information outside of the testimony before the jury .... A prosecutor's vouching for the credibility of a government witness raises two concerns: (1) such comments can convey the impression that evidence not presented to the jury but known to the prosecutor, supports the charges against the defendant and can thus jeopardize the defendant's right to be tried solely on the basis of the evidence presented to the jury ;and (2) the prosecutor's opinion carries with it the imprimatur of the Government and may induce the jury to trust the Government's judgment rather than its own view of the evidence. Id. 343 S.C. at 368.

The South Carolina Supreme Court in Kelly held that the solicitor's questioning improperly bolstered the jailhouse informant's credibility. The Kelly Court noted that although the solicitor's questioning may not have been technically vouching, the solicitor's questioning raises the second concern outlined by the Walker Court: the jury could have perceived that the assistant solicitor held the opinion that [the jailhouse informant] was, in fact, telling the truth. Id at 369.

The testimony of Earvin Moore was highly prejudicial to Petitioner because he placed Petitioner at the scene for the purpose of robbing decedent and saw Petitioner fire shots at the decedent. Moore testified that he went with Petitioner and co-defendant Moekia Hammond to the beach, and we they got to the beach Petitioner made drug sales at a couple motels (R p. 394 lines 22-23); and Petitioner told him that they were going to the Best Buy

parking lot because he was going to do a lick (R. p. 395 lines 19- 25); he saw Petitioner walk toward the decedent's car (R. p. 398 lines 20 – 23); he heard two shots fired and then saw Petitioner jump back into the car. (R. p. 399 lines 2-5); and after hearing the initial two shots he saw Petitioner fire shots at the decedent's car (R. p. 385 lines 4- 18).

The assistant solicitor's questioning of Mr. Moore regarding the potential consequences Moore would face if the State believed he was not being truthful was an impermissible attempt to bolster the credibility of Moore's testimony. Trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to object to the State's line of questioning.

- II. The PCR court erred in failing to find trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the trial court's response to an inquiry from the jury about whether Petitioner could be convicted of armed robbery if doubt existed regarding his actual knowledge of the robbery prior to its occurrence

***Court's Response to Jury question***

Petitioner took the stand in his defense and his testimony contradicted Earvin Moore's prior testimony regarding Petitioner's plans when he got to Myrtle Beach and who was responsible for the altercation with decedent. After hearing Petitioner's testimony the jury could have inferred that Moore and not Petitioner intended to rob decedent. Petitioner testified that while in route to Myrtle Beach, Petitioner handed his phone to Moore so that Moore could make arrangements with decedent to purchase marijuana. (R. p. 559 lines 7-23). Petitioner denied ever discussing that he planned to commit a "lick" (i.e. robbery) when he got to Myrtle Beach. (R. p. 561 lines 13-25). Petitioner denied that he told Moore to get into decedent's car to check on the marijuana. (R. p. 562 lines 1-8) Petitioner then testified when Moore got into decedent's car he saw them fighting. (R. 553 lines 12-21). Finally Petitioner testified that when Moore exited decedent's car he heard decedent yell; "You ain't getting out this car with my weed without no money" (R. p. 553 lines 23-24)

During their deliberations the jury notified that court that it had the following question: *Can the defendant be guilty of armed robbery if doubt exists as to his actual knowledge of it prior to the act of robbery?* (R. p. 729 lines 21-23). A discussion ensued between counsel and the Court, outside the presence of the jury regarding the Court's

response to the question. Ultimately the Court stated: *All right, then I can just say please refer to the Court's instructions as to reasonable doubt<sup>1</sup> and as to armed robbery<sup>2</sup>.* (R. p. 731 lines 22-24). The State argued that the Court should answer the question in this manner and Petitioner's counsel advised that there would be no objection to it. . (R. p. 732 line 3-4). The Court then responded to the jury's question with its written reply to the question. (R. p. 735 lines 3- 9).

Based upon this question and the conflict in testimony between Moore and Petitioner, it is reasonable to conclude that some jurors believed Petitioner did not plan or participate in the robbery; and that Petitioner was not responsible for starting the altercation between Petitioner, Mr Moore and the Decedent. When presented with a well-framed question from the jury, the Court at times, *must tailor mold and even sculpt the law in fashioning an answer to fit the question.* State v. Huckabee, 388 S.C. 232, 244, 694 S.E.2d 781, 787 (Ct. App. 2010), *citing with emphasis*, State v. Smith, 304 S.C. 129, 132, 403 S.E.2d 162, 164 (Ct. App. 1991), *see also* State v. Fuller, 297 S.C. 440, 443, 377 S.E.2d 328, 330 (1989) ("In charging self-defense, we instruct the trial court to consider the facts and circumstances of the case at bar in order to fashion an appropriate charge."). The Court in Smith stated that when framing a response to a question from the jury, *the judge must be an artist, not a mere technician.* State v. Smith, 304 S.C. at 132. Additionally the Smith Court noted: *It is not always sufficient for a judge to simply open a charge book and read a generic statement of the law to a jury, no matter how correct that statement may be in the abstract. This is*

---

<sup>1</sup> The Court charge on Reasonable Doubt is at Transcript p. 702 line 23 through p. 703 line 10.

<sup>2</sup> The Court's charge on Armed Robbery is at Transcript p. 709 line 22 through p. 710 line 20.

*particularly true where, as here, the judge is called upon to answer a well-framed question following the initial charge. Id.*

“When the jury requests more instructions upon a particular phase of the case, the trial court is under a duty to instruct them in a plain, clear manner so as to enlighten rather than confuse them.” State v. Davis, 220 W. Va. 590, 595, 648 S.E.2d 354, 359 (2007) quoting Smith v. State, 265 Ga. App. 756, 596 S.E.2d 13, 15 (Ga. Ct. App. 2004). The Court should frame its response with both specificity and accuracy. People v. Sanders, 368 Ill. App. 3d 533, 857 N.E.2d 948, 952, 306 Ill. Dec. 549 (Ill. App). However by merely directing the jury to review their copy of the Court’s charge, the trial Court failed to answer the juror’s question. The jury asked for clarification regarding their obligation in the event there was doubt as to Petitioner’s involvement with the armed robbery. When presented with the jury’s question, the Court advised counsel that its initial response would be to charge: “*if there is doubt as to whether or not the Defendant knew there was a robbery that was going to take place then you can’t have armed robbery.*” (R. p. 729 line 23 - 730 line 2). This response would have enlighten the jury with a clear and concise statement of the applicable law that was tailored to the specifics of this case. However, the State argued that all that was necessary was to recharge the jury on reasonable doubt and armed robbery. (R p. 730 lines 12-15). Even though the Court indicated that merely recharging the jury on these two issues was not responsive to the jury’s question (R. p. 16-17), the Court ultimately responded by simply directing the jury to reread the same statements of the law the Court previously provided in its original charge.

The facts which supported the charges on armed robbery and the firearm charge were

part of the same transaction which led to the murder charge. All the charges are inextricably entwined. Thus it is reasonable to conclude the Court's response to the jury's question regarding the armed robbery charge must have influenced their deliberations regarding all three convictions. Trial counsel was deficient by failing to object when the Court declined to fashion an answer to fit the jury's specific question regarding the armed robbery charge. Therefore Appellant is entitled to a new trial on all three convictions.

**CONCLUSION**

Based upon the above, certiorari should be granted. Petitioner's convictions and sentences should be reversed, and the case remanded for new trial.