STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

**RECEIVED**

**May 09 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to Horry County  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Trial Judge  
The Honorable William H. Seals, Jr., PCR Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2018-000396

---

RICHARD B. NILES, JR... Petitioner.

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA... Respondent.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR  
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

CHELSEY F. MARTO  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar # 104191

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, S.C. 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

Reasonableness is determined by the “variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how to best represent a criminal defendant,” and the scope of the reasonableness inquiry is limited to facts counsel had available at the time of representation. *Id.* at 689. “Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” *Yarborough v. Gentry*, 540 U.S. 1, 5 (2003) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690); *see Dunn v. Reeves*, 141 S. Ct. 2405, 2410 (2021) (noting counsel’s strategic decisions are to be afforded “‘strong presumption’ of reasonableness that the defendant must overcome); *Cullen v. Pinholster*, 563 U.S. 170, 189 (2011) (explaining a defendant must show defense counsel failed to act reasonably considering all the circumstances in order to overcome the presumption of adequate representation). Judicial scrutiny of counsel’s performance remains highly deferential towards defense counsel with a strong presumption that counsel acted competently, because competent representation may be executed in virtually “countless” ways. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688-89.

Second, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant so that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117-18. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. The court makes this determination based upon the totality of the evidence. *Id.* at 695. Importantly, “[t]he likelihood of a different result must be *substantial*, not just conceivable.” *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86, 112 (2011).

The standards do not establish mechanical rules; the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. *Strickland*, 466 U.S.

at 696. A court need not first determine whether counsel's performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies; if it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed. *Id.* at 696-97.

Whether failure to object constitutes deficient performance generally hinges on whether or not a valid trial strategy was utilized. *See Thompson v. State*, 423 S.C. 235, 241, 814 S.E.2d 487, 490 (2018) (finding Counsel was deficient because the failure to object was not related to an otherwise valid trial strategy); *Stokes v. State*, 308 S.C. 546, 548, 419 S.E.2d 778, 779 (1992) (where "counsel articulates a valid reason for employing certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel").

**I. The post-conviction relief court properly determined that Petitioner failed to establish counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the alleged improper bolstering of Ervin Moore because the State did not engage in improper bolstering, Counsel was not deficient because there was no basis for an objection to this line of questioning, and any conceivable error on the part of Counsel concerning this issue was harmless and non-prejudicial.**

On appeal, Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in denying him relief because Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the prosecutor improperly bolstering co-conspirator Ervin Moore's testimony. However, the PCR court properly rejected this argument, finding that this line of questioning did not constitute improper bolstering and was not objectionable. Therefore, the PCR Court found, Counsel was not deficient for failing to object to an unobjectionable line of questioning and because Counsel was not deficient, no prejudice was found. These findings are not controlled by an error of law and are supported by probative evidence in the record. Consequently, this Court should deny certiorari.

"A prosecutor cannot vouch for the credibility of a witness by expressing or implying his personal opinion concerning a witness' truthfulness." *State v. Shuler*, 344 S.C. 604, 630-31, 545

S.E.2d 805, 818-19 (2001) (citing *Elmer v. Maryland*, 353 Md. 1, 724 A.2d 625 (1999)).

“Improper vouching occurs when the prosecution places the government’s prestige behind a witness by making explicit personal assurances of a witness’ veracity, or where a prosecutor implicitly vouches for a witness’ veracity by indicating information not presented to the jury supports the testimony.” *Id.* (citing *State v. Kelly*, 343 S.C. 350, 540 S.E.2d 851 (2001)).

“Vouching occurs when a prosecutor implies he has facts that are not before the jury for their consideration.” *Id.* (citing *Missouri v. Wolfe*, 13 S.W.3d 248 (Mo. 2000)). “A witness’ testimony concerning a plea agreement with the prosecution does not necessarily constitute improper vouching.” *Id.* “By calling a witness who testifies pursuant to an agreement requiring him to testify truthfully, the Government does not insinuate possession of information not heard by the jury and the prosecutor cannot be taken as having expressed his opinion on a witness’ veracity.” *Id.* (quoting *United States v. Creamer*, 555 F.2d 612, 617-18 (7th Cir. 1977)).

In *Shuler*, this Court found that improper bolstering did not occur because the prosecutor made no overt statement of his personal belief as to the truth of the witness’s testimony, made no insinuation that he knew better than the jury what the truth was, and because questioning on re-direct where the prosecutor asked the witness if he was telling the truth did nothing more than reference what the witness had agreed to through the proffer agreement. *Id.* Further, the Court found that “it was not error for the Solicitor to introduce the plea agreement on direct examination because the Solicitor was entitled to anticipate the inevitable cross-examination of a federal inmate and to dispel any notion he was hiding something from the jury.” *Id.* at 628-29, 545 S.E.2d at 817. *Shuler* also drew a sharp distinction between the instant case and the Court’s finding in *State v. Kelly*, 343 S.C. 350, 540 S.E.2d 851 (2001), because the prosecutor did not comment in *Shuler* that he had personal knowledge that the witness was telling the truth like

implied in *Kelly*. Specifically, in *Shuler*, the court found that the bolstering in *Kelly* was impermissible because he improperly phrased his questions in the first person, which could have led the jury to perceiving that the prosecutor held the opinion that the witness was telling the truth, causing the witness' testimony to carry "with it the imprimatur of the government." *Shuler*, 344 S.C. at 630, 545 S.E.2d at 818. This was not the case in *Shuler*, where the witness testified concerning the agreement with the State without the prosecutor implying they had independent knowledge of the truth.

"In an ineffective assistance case, 'trial counsel's failure to object to [improper bolstering] testimony does not remove a [] [PCR] applicant's burden to prove prejudice.'" *Chappell*, 429 S.C. at 80, 837 S.E.2d at 502 (quoting *Thompson*, 423 S.C. at 246, 814 S.E.2d at 492). "The determination of whether a bolstering error is harmless depends on whether the case turns on the credibility of the [witness]." *State v. Chavis*, 412 S.C. 101, 110, 771 S.E.2d 336, 341 (2015). "The outcome of a trial turns on the credibility of the [witness] when the State presents no physical evidence or 'relie[s] solely upon the [witness's] testimony to establish the details of the crime . . . .'" *Chappell*, 429 S.C. at 80, 837 S.E.2d at 502 (quoting *Thompson*, 423 S.C. at 248, 814 S.E.2d at 494).

The alleged bolstering of co-conspirator Ervin Moore at trial reads as follows:

Q: Okay, you just know we came out there to talk to you Sunday?

A: Yes, ma'am, and I was happy.

Q: Okay, and the statements that we went over before and your testimony ---

A: Yes, ma'am.

Q: --- you signed a written agreement with us about your deal here today; right?

A: Yes, ma'am.

Q: Part of that written agreement it deals with what happens if you get on the stand and lie; doesn't it?

A: Yes, ma'am.

Q: And if you get up on the stand and you lie what happens to that agreement?

A: It ain't no good.

Q: It goes out the window?

A: Yes, ma'am.  
Q: And what you facing?  
A: Thirty.  
Q: Facing murder, aren't you?  
A: Yes ma'am.

(App. 465-66).

This line of questioning is much more akin that found in *Shuler*, than the questioning in *Kelly*. Accordingly, Respondent contends that this line of questioning does not constitute improper bolstering. The prosecutor did not speak in the first person like the prosecutor in *Kelly* did, nor did they vouch for his credibility, indicate that he had an opinion concerning the witness's truthfulness or credibility, or imply he had information not presented to the jury. Instead, the prosecutor merely elicited testimony concerning the plea agreement, including the fact that the agreement was contingent on the witness's truthfulness at Petitioner's trial. Accordingly, as per *Shuler*, this line of questioning is acceptable, and Counsel cannot be found deficient for failing to object to an unobjectionable line of questioning.

Even if this Court were to find Counsel deficient, Petitioner was not prejudiced by the deficiency. Officers found shell casings and bullets, glass fragments, and blood the following day when they searched Petitioner's car. (App. 356-65). Additionally, on April 13, 2007, a search warrant was executed at the home of Martha Niles, Petitioner's mother, revealing additional shell casings, a room key, a digital scale, baggies with marijuana seeds, a rental car receipt for a black Ford Fusion, and seven-hundred dollars in cash. (App. 476-79).

At trial, two eyewitnesses testified, corroborating Moore's testimony. Specifically, Watts, a passerby in an adjacent parking lot, stated he heard gunfire and saw a heavy-set black male matching Petitioner's description run from a white car and jump into the rear driver's side door of a dark car, which was operated by a female and sped out of the parking lot. (App. 227-29).

Hooper, whose minivan was hit by a stray bullet, echoed Watt's testimony but instead described the female driver simply as a "dark figure." (App. 197-98, 206). The State further corroborated Moore, Hooper and Watts' testimony through forensic evidence taken from the cars of Salter and Petitioner. Specifically, Petitioner's fingerprints were found on top of Salter's car and DNA evidence taken from the driver's seat of Petitioner's car was consistent with that of Hammond to a probability of one in one quadrillion. (App. 332, 526-27). Accordingly, even if Counsel was found deficient, no prejudice can be found flowing therefrom because any error on the part of Counsel did not have an impact on the outcome at trial, given that there was sufficient evidence to convict beyond the co-conspirator's statement. Accordingly, relief should be denied as a result.

**II. The post-conviction relief court properly determined that Petitioner failed to establish counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the Court's response to the jury question because this issue is not preserved, given that the failure to request a more specific instruction, as laid out before the circuit court, was pertaining to the other jury note, not the one on appeal and, even if this issue was preserved, Counsel acted reasonably in asking more specific response to the question, which the Court declined to use, and because, even if Counsel was found deficient, no prejudice is found flowing therefrom.**

On appeal, Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in denying him relief because counsel was ineffective for failure to object to the Court's response to a jury inquiry about whether Petitioner could be convicted of armed robbery if doubt existed regarding his actual knowledge of the robbery prior to the occurrence. This issue was not preserved for appeal. However, even if it was properly preserved, Counsel was not ineffective because Counsel asked for a more specific response to the question, the Court declined to use Counsel's requested response, and Counsel's objection was preserved on the record. These findings are not controlled by an error of law and are supported by probative evidence in the record. Consequently, this Court should deny certiorari.

During circuit court proceedings, Petitioner alleged Counsel was ineffective for failing to demand the Court provide clarification to the jury concerning the question of “can the Defendant be found guilty of murder and not guilty of armed robbery?” (App. 729). Here, the question in issue is “can the defendant be guilty of armed robbery if doubt exists as to his actual knowledge of it prior to the act of robbery?” (App. 729-30). Because the claim now raised was never raised in the post-conviction relief court, it is not preserved for this Court’s review.

In South Carolina, issue preservation requirements are a fundamental component of appellate procedure. *Gaddy v. Douglass*, 359 S.C. 329, 350, 597 S.E.2d 12, 23 (Ct. App. 2004). Significantly, the application of issue preservation requirements ensures the trial court has an opportunity “to rule properly after it considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.” *I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). For an issue to properly be preserved for appellate review, it must be: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. *State v. Rogers*, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004); see JEAN HOEFER TOAL ET AL., *APPELLATE PRACTICE IN SOUTH CAROLINA* 57 (2nd ed. 2002) (identifying the four requirements that must be met in order for an issue to be properly preserved for appellate review). Although our courts have recognized the somewhat relaxed procedures in PCR cases and will excuse procedural defaults in extraordinary cases, “[i]n most PCR cases, however, [appellate courts] have refused to excuse the pleading and issue-preservation requirements that apply in all civil cases.” *Mangal v. State*, 421 S.C. 85, 97, 805 S.E.2d 568, 574 (2017). In *Mangal*, the South Carolina Supreme Court noted:

[T]here are situations where the interests of justice require PCR courts to be flexible with procedural requirements before PCR applicants suffer procedural default on substantial claims. Such flexibility is consistent with the purpose and spirit of our Rules of Civil Procedure. These considerations should guide PCR

courts when struggling to balance procedural requirements against the importance of the issues at stake in PCR proceedings. We encourage trial courts in PCR cases to use the discretion we grant them on procedural matters to find reasonable ways—within the flexibility of our Rules—to reach the merits of substantial issues.

*Mangal*, 421 S.C. at 99–100, 805 S.E.2d at 575–76.

Here, Petitioner never raised or otherwise presented the claim that Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the Court’s response to the jury question “Can the defendant be guilty of armed robbery if doubt exists as to his actual knowledge of it prior to the act of robbery?” This issue was not before or addressed by the circuit court and, accordingly, this issue is not properly before the Court and is not an extraordinary case where preservation deficiencies should be overlooked in the interest of justice.

Even if this issue was properly before this Court, Counsel was not ineffective on this ground. In determining whether a petitioner was prejudiced by improper jury instructions, the court must find that, viewing the charge in its entirety and not in isolation, there is a reasonable likelihood that the jury applied the improper instruction in a way that violates the Constitution. *Battle v. State*, 382 S.C. 197, 203, 675 S.E.2d 736, 740 (2009). The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial. *State v. Knoten*, 347 S.C. 296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391, 394 (2001).

During deliberations, the jury sent out a note with the following question: “Can the Defendant be found guilty of armed robbery if doubt exists as to his actual knowledge of it prior to the act of robbery?” (App. 732). In response, Counsel requested the Court “respond appropriately to their question and then refer them because they do have your charge in the jury room with them and then refer them to those specific sections.” (App. 731). The State stated that they had “no problem” with Counsel’s recommendation in whole, but requested the Court not

give a specific “yes or no because that’s a determination that they’re going to have to make based on the charge.” (App. 731). The Court stated that his response to the question would be “please refer to the Court’s instructions as to reasonable doubt and as to armed robbery.” (App. 731). Neither side objected to this instruction. (Tr. 731-32).

Counsel was not deficient on this ground. Counsel requested specific responses concerning that question, most of which were adopted. In fact, seemingly the only instruction not given to the jury, as requested by Counsel, was the request for a specific yes or no answer to the question, which the State took issue with, on the grounds that a more specific answer was ultimately a determination for the jury to make. The Court seemingly acknowledged this in adopting the State’s modification to Counsel’s recommended response. (App. 732). Accordingly, any objection or request made by Counsel at this point would have been fruitless, given that a more specific request was made and subsequently rejected. (App. 732). Accordingly, Counsel acted reasonably in declining to press the issue further and cannot be found deficient.

Even if Counsel was deficient, no prejudice is found. There has been no showing that the response provided led the jury to apply the instruction, if improper, in a way that violates the Constitution. Instead, he merely directed the jury back to instructions already given, which remain uncontested. Thus, even if Counsel was deficient, prejudice cannot be found, and relief must be denied as a result.

**CONCLUSION**

For the reasons stated above, this court should deny certiorari and affirm the PCR Court's findings that Petitioner had effective assistance of counsel. However, if this Court decides to grant the petition of writ of certiorari, Respondent respectfully requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.